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)
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)

CHARLES W. SPENCER,
)




)
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)

DECISION
Charles W. Spencer violated 49 CFR § 391.11(a) and § 307.400.1 by driving a commercial motor vehicle in intrastate commerce on October 31, 2007, while he had an amputated leg and without obtaining a skilled performance evaluation (“SPE”) certificate.
Procedure

On March 23, 2009, the MHTC filed a complaint to establish that Spencer violated federal and state highway safety laws.  On April 4, 2009, Spencer received by certified mail our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint.  Spencer did not respond to the complaint.  On July 10, 2009, the MHTC filed its motion.  On July, 21, 2009, we held a hearing on the motion in which Spencer presented his testimony and arguments by telephone.  Megan L. Waters-Hamblin, senior assistant counsel, appeared for the MHTC.  The reporter filed the transcript on August 3, 2009.
Findings of Fact

1.
Spencer was born on June 17, 1936.  When Spencer was a teenager, his right leg was amputated below the knee.  
2.
Spencer has been driving with a prosthetic leg since some time before 1988.
3.
The Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT), Motor Carrier Services Division, has not granted Spencer a SPE certificate.

4.
Terri Baker operates Baker Trucking in Mountain Grove, Missouri.
5.
On October 31, 2007, Baker Trucking owned a 1994 WHGM truck that had a gross vehicle weight rating (“GVWR”) of 50,000 pounds.  

6.
On October 31, 2007, Baker Trucking employed Spencer as a truck driver for intrastate hauling.  

7.
On October 31, 2007, Spencer drove the 1994 WHGM truck to haul rock and wet batch for Baker Trucking in commerce from Wheatland, Missouri, to Collins, Missouri.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the MHTC’s complaint.
  The MHTC has the authority to enforce Parts 350 to 399 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
  The MHTC must show by clear and satisfactory evidence that Spencer has violated the law.

Motion for Summary Decision


By its motion, the MHTC requests that we decide this case in its favor without a hearing.  We may do so if the MHTC establishes facts that entitle it to a favorable decision and Spencer does not genuinely dispute such facts.
  To establish those facts, the MHTC submitted affidavits 
and certified records with its motion.  On July 27, 2009, after oral argument on the motion and without requesting leave to do so, the MHTC filed documents to supplement its original exhibits.    


The MHTC submitted a supplemental affidavit from Kathy Hatfield to supplement her original affidavit in Exhibit 13.  Hatfield is a motor carrier investigations specialist for MoDOT.  In her original affidavit, she averred that the Director of Motor Carrier Services did not grant Spencer an SPE certificate.  In her supplemental affidavit, Hatfield explains the process by which a driver obtains an SPE certificate and the attempts that Hatfield made to assist Spencer to obtain an SPE certificate.  

We admit Hatfield’s supplemental affidavit as part of Exhibit 13.  Its admission after the oral argument does not prejudice Spencer, but simply clarifies the confusion that Spencer expressed at the oral argument about his attempts to obtain the SPE certificate.   


The MHTC also attempts to supplement the certified records from the Department of Revenue in its original Exhibit 9 with more records.  We admit these additional records and discuss them in more detail under “Affirmative Defense.”
Merits

The MHTC contends that Spencer violated 49 CFR § 391.11(a) and thereby violated 
§ 307.400 when he drove the 1994 WHGM truck for Baker Trucking in intrastate commerce on October 31, 2007, because Spencer was not then physically qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle.

Section 307.400 provides:
1.  It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle as defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, 
as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . .
*   *   *

7.  Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 1 of this section to the contrary, Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations shall not apply to commercial motor vehicles operated in intrastate commerce to transport property, which have a gross vehicle weight rating or gross combination weight rating of twenty-six thousand pounds or less.  The exception provided by this subsection shall not apply to vehicles transporting hazardous materials or to vehicles designed to transport sixteen or more passengers including the driver as defined by Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to prohibit persons designated by the department of public safety from inspecting vehicles defined in this subsection.
The exception in § 307.400.7 does not apply because the 1994 WHGM truck that Spencer drove had a GVWR of 50,000 pounds.  

49 CFR § 390.5 defines “commercial motor vehicle” and “driver” as:
Commercial motor vehicle means any self-propelled or towed motor vehicle used on a highway in interstate commerce to transport passengers or property when the vehicle--

(1) Has a gross vehicle weight rating or gross combination weight rating, or gross vehicle weight or gross combination weight, of 4,536 kg (10,001 pounds) or more, whichever is greater;.
*   *   *

Driver means any person who operates any commercial motor vehicle.

The 1994 WHGM truck falls within the definition of “commercial motor vehicle” because it had a GVWR of 50,000 pounds.  Spencer was the driver.  Therefore, Spencer was required to operate the 1994 WHGM truck according to the restrictions in Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations.  

49 CFR § 390.11 provides:
(a) A person shall not drive a commercial motor vehicle unless he/she is qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle.  Except as provided in § 391.63, a motor carrier shall not require or permit a person to drive a commercial motor vehicle unless that person is qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle.
(b) Except as provided in subpart G of this part, a person is qualified to drive a motor vehicle if he/she—
*   *   *

(4) Is physically qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle in accordance with subpart E--Physical Qualifications and Examinations of this part[.]
49 CFR § 391.41 provides:

(a)(1)(i) A person subject to this part must not operate a commercial motor vehicle unless he or she is medically certified as physically qualified to do so, . . .
(b) A person is physically qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle if that person—
(1) Has no loss of a foot, a leg, a hand, or an arm, or has been granted a skill performance evaluation certificate pursuant to § 391.49[.] 
49 CFR § 391.49 provides:
(a) A person who is not physically qualified to drive under § 391.41(b)(1) or (b)(2) and who is otherwise qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle, may drive a commercial motor vehicle, if the Division Administrator, FMCSA, has granted a Skill Performance Evaluation (SPE) Certificate to that person.

Spencer's right leg was amputated below the knee when he was a teenager.  During the hearing, Spencer testified that he had been driving with a prosthetic leg at least since before 1988.  Spencer admitted that he had not obtained an SPE certificate.  Therefore, the MHTC has established facts, undisputed by Spencer, that his operation of a commercial motor vehicle in 
intrastate commerce on October 31, 2007, was not in compliance with 49 CFR § 391.11(a).  Such conduct violates § 304.700.1.

Exemption From 49 CFR § 391.11(a)

Section 307.400.2 provides:  
 Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 1 of this section to the contrary, Part 391, Subpart E, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, relating to the physical requirements of drivers shall not be applicable to drivers in intrastate commerce, provided such drivers were licensed by this state as chauffeurs to operate commercial motor vehicles on May 13, 1988. . . .
During the hearing, Spencer argued:

MR. SPENCER:  Well, what I don't understand about the whole deal, I took my, I had the chauffeur's license back before '88.  They can't prove this, I can't prove it.  I don't have no papers showing I did it. . . .

But that was back in the history, and nobody can seem to go past '88 to figure out whether I had a chauffeur's license or not.  I had the [prosthetic] leg at that time.  I've still got it.[
]
*   *   *
MS. WATERS-HAMBLIN:  He just said that he had a chauffeur's license before in 1988.  To fall within the exception, you have to have had a chauffeur's license on May 13, 1988; on that day, May 13, 1988.  And you can find that in Section 307.400.2.

COMMISSIONER CHAPEL:  Did he have a license before 

that day?  

MS. WATERS-HAMBLIN:  Well, it has to be on that day.  But in the -- no.  What he had was a Class I on that day.  A Class I is what we now call a Class F, a regular operator's license.  And the DOR-certified records are Exhibit, I think, 9.  Let me look through here.  

MR. SPENCER:  That's what I tried to explain to him.


MS. WATERS-HAMBLIN:  Exhibit 9.  And so he had a Class I on the day in question, the May 13, 1988.  He did not have a chauffeur's license.  He had a regular operator's license.  

MR. SPENCER:  That was '88.  I'm talking about before '88.

MS. WATERS-HAMBLIN:  Okay.  But the –

MR. SPENCER:  They said they didn't go back past '88.  Well, that's not my fault.[
]

Spencer's defense was that he had a chauffeur’s license before 1988.  Section 307.400.2 provides an exemption only for those possessing a chauffeur’s license on May 13, 1988.  The MHTC submitted the Department of Revenue’s records in Exhibit 9 to show that Spencer had an operator’s license, not a chauffeur’s license, on May 13, 1988.  The records show that he had a “Class 1” license.  The Director supplemented Exhibit 9 after the hearing with more records in an attempt to explain that a Class 1 license is an operator’s license, not a chauffeur’s license.  However, we make no findings on this issue because Spencer's statements during the hearing make clear that he contended only that he had the chauffeur’s license before 1988.  Therefore, even if what Spencer alleges is true, § 307.400.2 does not exempt him from 49 CFR § 391.11(a).
Summary



The MHTC has established undisputed facts that prove clearly and convincingly that Spencer violated 49 CFR § 391.11(a) and § 307.400.1 by driving a commercial motor vehicle in intrastate commerce on October 31, 2007, while he had an amputated leg and without obtaining an SPE certificate.  We cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on August 12, 2009.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR. 


Commissioner
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